
   

CITY OF RICHARDSON 

CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – NOVEMBER 4, 2014 

 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on November 4, 2014, at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall in the 

Council Chambers, 411 W. Arapaho Road, Richardson, Texas. 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Barry Hand, Chairman 

  Gerald Bright, Vice Chair 

  Janet DePuy, Commissioner   

  Marilyn Frederick, Commissioner 

  Thomas Maxwell, Commissioner 

  Randy Roland, Commissioner   

  Stephen Springs, Alternate 

  Bill Ferrell, Alternate 
   

MEMBERS ABSENT: Eron Linn, Commissioner 
   

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Michael Spicer, Director – Development Services 

  Sam Chavez, Assistant Director – Dev. Svcs – Planning  

  Israel Roberts, Development Review Manager 

  Chris Shacklett, Sr. Planner 

  Mohamed Bireima, Planning Technician 

  Kathy Welp, Executive Secretary 
 

BRIEFING SESSION 
 

Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff regarding 

staff reports, agenda items and a work session.  No action was taken. 
 

MINUTES 
 

1. Approval of the minutes of the regular business meeting of October 21, 2014. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Roland made a motion to approve the minutes as presented; second by 

Commissioner Frederick.  Motion passed 7-0. 
 

CONSENT ITEMS 
All items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the City Plan Commission and will be 

enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless 

desired, in which case any item(s) may be removed from the Consent Agenda for separate consideration. 

 

2. Site, Landscape, and Building Elevation Plans – Eastside Phase II (companion to Item 7):  A 

request for approval of site and landscape plans with building elevations to reflect the development 

of a 280-unit, four-story apartment complex.  The 4.81-acre site is located at 1705 N. Greenville 

Avenue, on the west side of Greenville Avenue, south of Campbell Road.  

3. Site, Landscape, Building Elevation, and Lighting Plans – Breckinridge Commons Retail 

Center (companion to Item 8):  A request for approval of site and landscape plan with building 

elevations and a lighting plan for the development of two (2) one-story multi-tenant retail 

buildings.  The 1.99-acre site is located at 4140 E. Renner Road, on the south side of Renner Road, 

west of North Star Road.  



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  2 
 

 

4. Site and Landscape Plans – Fitness Center (companion to Item 9):  A request for approval of 

site and landscape plans for the development of a 25,000 square foot fitness center.  The 3.43 acre 

site is located at 1301 E. Belt Line Road, north side of Belt Line Road, west of Plano Road.   

5. Site, Landscape, and Building Elevation Plans – Lone Star Cold Storage (companion to item 

10): A request for approval of site and landscape plans with building elevations for an expansion to 

the existing cold storage facility. The 12.4-acre site is located at 401 N. Grove Road, at the 

northwest corner of Grove Road and Apollo Road.  

6. Amending Plat – Pittman and Stults Addition, Lot 9A, Block 1: A request for approval of an 

amending plat of Lot 9 and a portion of Lot 8, Block 1 of the Pittman and Stults Addition to create 

a single lot of record.  The 0.75-acre site is located at 337 Pittman Drive, at the northwest corner of 

Pittman Drive and Abrams Road. 
 

Motion: Commissioner DePuy made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented; 

second by Commissioner Maxwell.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

7. Replat – Eastside Addition, Phase II: Lots 1A and 2, Block A (companion to Item 2):  
Consider and take necessary action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 3, Block A of the 

Central Park Addition and Block A of the R&B Corporate Park Addition to create two (2) lots and 

abandon and dedicate easements.  The 13.29-acre site is located at 1701 and 1735 N. Greenville 

Avenue on the west side of Greenville Avenue, south of Campbell Road 
 

Mr. Roberts stated the requested replat would abandon and dedicate the necessary easements for 

the development of the Eastside multi-family project, and the replat complied with all City 

subdivision regulations. 
 

With no questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing. 
 

Mr. Michael Doggett, Winkleman and Associates, 6750 Hillcrest Plaza Drive, Dallas, Texas, 

requested the Commission approve the replat and said he was available for questions. 
 

No other comments were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand closed the public 

hearing. 
 

Motion: Commissioner DePuy made a motion to approve Item 7 as presented; second by Vice 

Chair Bright.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

8. Replat – Breckinridge Commons Addition, Lot 3C, Block A (companion to Item 3):  Consider 

and take necessary action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 3B, Block A of the 

Breckinridge Commons Addition to reflect the relocation of an access and utility easement.  The 

site is located at 4140 E. Renner Road on the south side of Renner road, west of North Star Road. 
 

Mr. Roberts said the applicant was requesting the replat to abandon a previously dedicated access 

easement that was dedicated with the development of the veterinary clinic to the west of the 

property.  He added that the replat complied with the City’s subdivision design standards.  



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  3 
 

 

 

With no questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing. 
 

No comments in favor or opposed were received and Chairman Hand closed the public hearing. 
 

Motion: Vice Chair Bright made a motion to approve Item 8 as presented; second by 

Commissioner Roland.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

9. Replat – Skaggs-Albertsons Addition, Lots 1B and 8, Block A (companion to Item 4):  
Consider and take necessary action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 1A, Block A of the 

Skaggs-Albertsons Addition to create two (2) lots and dedicate easements.  The 4.12 acre site is 

located at 1301 and 1325 E. Belt Line Road, north side of Belt Line Road, west of Plano Road. 
 

Mr. Roberts noted the requested replat would dedicate and abandon a number of easements for the 

development of a 25,000 square foot fitness center on proposed Lot 1B, and the replat complied 

with the City’s design and subdivision regulations. 
 

Chairman Hand asked if this was the area of the building that had been partially torn down. 
 

Mr. Roberts replied that it was. 
 

Commissioner Roland asked if the proposed replat was consistent with the original presentation in 

early 2014. 
 

Mr. Roberts said the earlier proposal was for a large restaurant and two smaller parcels where the 

current proposal is showing a fitness center; however, that project did not come to fruition. 
 

Chairman Hand opened the public hearing. 
 

Mr. Clay Christy, Clay Moore Engineering, 2328 Lotus Avenue, Fort Worth, Texas, confirmed the 

previous submittal was not realized and plans changed to accommodate the proposed fitness center.  

He added that they are still trying to secure a tenant for the other out parcels and when that happens 

they will be back before the Commission for approval. 
 

Chairman Hand asked what was planned for the remaining building. 
 

Mr. Christy said that would be the area where the fitness center would be constructed. 
 

Commissioner DePuy pointed out there was a gym across the street and asked if that was a 

concern.  She also wanted to know if the 25,000 square feet was a typical size gym for the new 

tenant. 
 

Mr. Christy replied that the fitness company did not seemed concerned based on their market 

studies and the square footage was typical for that particular tenant. 
 

Commissioner Frederick asked if the fitness center would be big enough to have an indoor track or 

pool and if the tenant was part of a recognizable national chain. 
 

Mr. Christy said his client had designed a floor plan, but it did not include an indoor track or pool, 

and the tenant was part of a larger chain, but not as big as LA Fitness. 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  4 
 

 

 

No other comments were received in favor and Chairman Hand called for comments in opposition. 
 

Ms. Lydia Luckett, 1935 Forestwood Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated she thought there was an 

abundance of fitness centers in the area and wondered if another one was necessary. 
 

Chairman Hand replied that the Commission was charged with determining the proper land use and 

did not get into judging market viability. 
 

Mr. Christy reminded everyone that the site plan had previously been approved under the Consent 

Agenda and the current item was simply a plat that would separate the two properties. 
 

With no other comments in favor or opposed, Chairman Hand closed the public hearing. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Ferrell made a motion to approve Item 9 as presented; second by Vice 

Chair Bright.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

10. Replat – Richardson Industrial Park Addition, Lot 9A (companion to Item 5):  Consider and 

take necessary action on a request for approval of a replat of Lot 9 of the Richardson Industrial 

Park Addition to relocate easements.  The 12.4-acre site is located at 401 N. Grove Road, at the 

northwest corner of Grove Road and Apollo Road.   
 

Mr. Roberts stated the proposed replat would relocate a utility and access easement that loops the 

property and the replat complied with the City’s subdivision regulations. 
 

With no questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing. 
 

Mr. Gene Miller, Team Group Limited, 1001 W. Euless Boulevard, Euless, Texas, stated they were 

the engineering and design team working with Lone Star Cold Storage and felt the proposed 

addition made good use of the existing building. 
 

With no other comments in favor or opposed, Chairman Hand closed the public hearing. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to approve Item 10 as presented; second by 

Commissioner Springs.  Motion approved 7-0. 
 

11. Zoning File 14-32 – Turkish Community Center (continued from October 21, 2014):  
Consider and take necessary action on a request to revoke Ordinance 2390-A, a Special Permit for 

the Young Women’s Christian Association (YWCA), and approval of a request for a Special 

Permit for a community center to include assembly uses and temporary lodging.  The property is 

currently zoned O-M Office and is located at 1416 E. Collins Boulevard; the south side of Collins 

Boulevard, east of Plano Road.  Applicant:  Robert Boyd, representing Robert Boyd Architects.   
 

Chairman Hand announced the applicant was requesting a continuance to the November 18, 2014, 

City Plan Commission meeting, but since the zoning case had been posted as a public hearing, it 

was customary to allow anyone who wished to speak on the item, either in favor or opposed, to 

address the Commission. 

 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  5 
 

 

Mr. Bireima added that staff had received quite a few items of correspondence and all had been 

presented to the Commission.   
 

Commissioner Roland asked that staff read into the record the email from the applicant requesting 

the continuance because he felt the information would be beneficial to those in attendance. 
 

Mr. Bireima read the following into the record:  “Thanks for your patience and assisting in this 

project.  Since our architects cannot make the requested changes till November 4
th

, we kindly ask 

to postpone the agenda to November 18, 2014.”   
 

Chairman Hand also added the following information from the email:  “I guess by that time we will 

have requested drawings.  We have decided to downgrade each floor to 6,000 square feet by 

replacing the dormrooms [sic] to classrooms.  Please let me know if you need further information.”   
 

Commissioner DePuy asked for clarification on the comment about scaling back each floor and 

whether those areas would be classroom or dorm rooms. 
 

Mr. Bireima replied the applicant was stating they will completely do away with the lodging 

request, will scale back on the square footage of the building, and the space would only be used for 

classrooms and center activities. 
 

Chairman Hand noted the public hearing was still open from the October 21, 2014, meeting and 

asked the applicant if he wanted to make a statement. 
 

Mr. Vepa Rejepov, Outreach Director for the Turkish Community Center, 1416 E. Collins 

Boulevard, Richardson, Texas, reported there had been an open house at the community center on 

Tuesday, October 28, 2014, and the Center had heard the concerns of the neighborhood and asked 

their architect to redraw the plans eliminating the sleeping quarters and adding classrooms.  He 

stated the architect could not have the plans ready for the current meeting and was requesting a 

continuance to the November 18, 2014 meeting. 
 

Commissioner DePuy asked about the ages of the children using the classrooms, where would they 

be coming from, and was the center currently being used as a school. 
 

Mr. Rejepov replied the age of the children would be from elementary school to high school 

students who would come in from all around Dallas/Fort Worth.  He added that on weekends there 

are currently schools for the Turkish, Kazakhstani, Bosnian and Gambian communities.  
 

Chairman Hand called for any other comments in favor of the application from those who would 

not be able to be in attendance on November 18, 2014.  No other comments in favor were received 

and Mr. Hand called for comments in opposition. 
 

Mr. Mark Poer, 1412 Somerset Place, Richardson, Texas, stated his property was south of the 

Turkish Center and gave the following summary of his concerns: 
 

 Representative from Raindrop Foundation stated they needed a larger building because they 

expect the number of people attending their activities to grow much bigger, which in turn 

will increase traffic in the area. 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  6 
 

 

 Collins Boulevard has been reduced from a four-lane street to a two-lane street because of 

the dedication of two bike lanes. 

 Traffic on Fridays and Saturdays is already a problem because of the services held at the 

mosque across from the Turkish Center. 

 With an increase of attendees to the Turkish Center, there are concerns traffic will park on 

Somerset Place to make use of the pedestrian entrance, which will adversely affect property 

values for homes in the area. 
 

Mr. Poer concluded his comments by stating that by reason of the above mentioned concerns, and 

other concerns that would be presented at the November 18
th

 meeting, he urged the Commission to 

deny the request. 
 

Dr. David Frazee, 1410 N. Plano Road, Suite 100, Richardson, Texas, representing Somerset 

Condominiums (professional buildings) on the corner of Somerset Place and Plano Road said he 

was concerned that if attendance increased at the center the overflow parking would spill into their 

parking. 
 

Commissioner Roland asked if the professional condominiums were occupied on the weekends. 
 

Dr. Frazee replied that currently the professional buildings are not used on the weekends, but they 

have the potential to do so. 
 

Mr. Ted Bathurst, 1511 Meadow Glen, Richardson, Texas, stated his home was approximately 400 

yards south of the Turkish Center and he was opposed to the zoning request because it could lead 

to an increase in traffic, have a negative impact on property values, and could change the character 

of the neighborhood. 
 

Ms. Kay Tate, 1505 Montclair, Richardson, Texas, said her family moved to Richardson five years 

ago because of the peacefulness of the neighborhood and if there was a large increase in the traffic 

and number of people coming into the area it would change the character of the neighborhood.  She 

added that she had asked the applicant how many students were currently attending the school and 

if that was the reason for the increase and his response was there were 40 students. 
 

Mr. Eric Torgerson, 1700 Richforest Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated his opposition to the request 

was based on the lack of a crosswalk between the mosque and the Center, the possibility of a 

school zone having to be installed because of the increased number of children, and the effect all 

that would have on the traffic.  In addition to living in the area, Mr. Torgerson works in the area 

and said an increase in traffic would adversely affect an already busy Collins Boulevard. 
 

Chairman Hand asked if there had been neighborhood meetings regarding the zoning request. 
 

Mr. Torgerson replied that he had not heard anything from the Turkish Center and compared that to 

the abundance of communication they received when the building was used by the YWCA. 
 

Mr. Larry Herrin, 1416 Somerset Place, Richardson, Texas, said his home was directly behind the 

Center and he had not heard anything from them.  He added that he had heard many different 

stories and with the absence of any reliable information he was opposed to the request. 

 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  7 
 

 

Mr. Tom Ryan, 1607 Montclair Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated there was a neighborhood 

meeting at the Turkish Center on Tuesday, October 28
th

 with approximately 75 residents in 

attendance.  He said that after hearing a presentation from the Center, the majority of those in 

attendance were against the proposal and felt the current facility was adequate for use as a school. 
 

Commissioner Roland invited those in attendance to come back for the meeting on November 18, 

2014, because it would be important to hear the presentation from the applicant and frame any 

comments or concerns within the context of that information. 
 

Mr. Poer asked if the public would be able to see the proposed plans prior to the next meeting.  He 

also wanted to point out that only property owners within 200 feet were officially notified by the 

City and that was possibly the reason most people did not know of the pending request. 
 

Chairman Hand replied that the Commission’s packet would be posted on the City’s web site by 

5:00 p.m. on the Friday before the meeting. 
 

Mr. Bathurst reported that he was at the meeting on October 28
th

 and heard multiple variations 

during the applicant’s presentation and was concerned the proposed project was too big to be 

decided in one session on November 18
th

. 
 

Chairman Hand replied that the Commission will get the case at the same time it is posted on the 

City’s web site and felt confident the staff and Commission would do a good job looking for any 

inconsistencies in the submittal.  He also said that the Commission would have the option of 

approving, denying or tabling the request depending on what was submitted. 
 

Mr. Chavez added that the posted information will contain a staff report explaining the request, a 

site plan of the proposed development, as well as copies of any correspondence that had been 

received. 
 

Mr. Rodrigo Cruz, 1511 Versailles Drive, Richardson, Texas, asked how the applicant would feel 

about the impact on their home and neighborhood if they were one of the adjacent homeowners.   
 

Ms. Lydia Luckett, 1935 Forestwood Drive, Richardson, Texas, questioned why the students 

coming to the Center could not receive tutoring at the public schools they attended.   
 

No other comments were received in opposition and Chairman Hand asked if the applicant had 

anything to say in rebuttal. 
 

Mr. Rejepov thanked those in attendance for their comments and addressed some of the concerns 

by stating the parking off Somerset Place was used only two times per year during religious 

festivals, and the traffic in the area would not increase suddenly, but only in small increments as 

the Center grows.  He added that the mosque across the street uses their parking lot on Fridays and 

Saturdays to prevent any problem with vehicles parking in the adjacent neighborhoods. 
 

Mr. Rejepov said the tutoring of students was mainly in their national heritage and language as 

well as some tutoring in school subjects, and it was easier to bring all the students to one location 

as opposed to having the tutors go to multiple locations. 

 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  8 
 

 

Mr. Rejepov concluded his comments by stating that once the plans were ready, the Center would 

have a copy available for anyone who would like to stop by and view them. 
 

No further comments were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand stated the public 

hearing would not be closed and called for a motion. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Roland made a motion to continue the Public Hearing to the November 

18, 2014, City Plan Commission meeting; second by Commissioner Maxwell.  Motion 

approved 7-0. 
 

12. Zoning File 14-37 – Afrah: Consider and take necessary action on a request for approval of a 

Special Permit for a smoking establishment.  The property is currently zoned LR-M(1) Local Retail 

and is located at 314 E. Main Street; the southwest corner of Main Street and Abrams Road.   
 

Mr. Shacklett advised the applicant was requesting a Special Permit for a smoking establishment 

for the newly constructed Afrah restaurant on Main Street at Abrams Road and explained smoking 

was allowed at the current location next door, but under the City’s new smoking ordinance, and the 

fact the restaurant was relocating, the grandfather status would not transfer to the new location. 
 

Mr. Shacklett pointed out that the City’s smoking ordinance and health codes prohibited smoking 

inside buildings and within twenty-five (25) feet of doors, operable windows/vents; however, there 

is an exclusion that reduced the prohibited area to ten (10) feet in a restaurant with an outdoor 

patio.   
 

Mr. Shacklett stated the applicant’s main focus would still be on serving food and estimated only 4 

to 5 percent of their profits were derived from renting hookahs and/or selling tobacco products.  He 

added the use of the products would be limited to the outdoor patio and only between the hours of 

11:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. Sunday through Thursday, and 11:00 a.m. to midnight on Fridays and 

Saturdays. 
 

Commissioner Roland asked how long ago the 10-foot rule had been put in place, and did the rule 

go against the City Council’s desire to avoid having people walk through smoking areas. 
 

Mr. Shacklett replied that rule was part of the definition for patios and the last time it was amended 

was 2008.  In addition, it was his understanding the Council did not want to add a restriction that 

might limit a restaurant from using their patio.  
 

With no further questions for staff, Chairman Hand opened the public hearing. 
 

Mr. Nabil Elhorr, 5001 Shady Knolls Drive, Parker, Texas, said his family began their business on 

Main Street in 2003 and had always abided by the City’s ordinances regarding smoking.  He added 

that tobacco and hookah rentals were only about 5 percent of their business and the ability to offer 

it would be a convenience to their customers.  
 

Chairman Hand asked if construction on the new building had been completed and would it be the 

restaurant or market when finished. 
 

Mr. Elhorr said the building would be the restaurant and it would take another six to eight weeks to 

complete. 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  9 
 

 

 

Vice Chair Bright asked if smoking was allowed on both patios at the current location and was the 

proposed request for the same type of smoking area at the new restaurant. 
 

Mr. Elhorr replied smoking was permitted on both ends of the patio because those areas were 10 

feet away from the doors and he confirmed it would be the same at the new location. 
 

Commissioner DePuy asked if hookahs were sold or rented at the current location.  She also 

wanted to know if customers used the patio areas for smoking in the winter when the protective 

shades are in place. 
 

Mr. Elhorr said they currently rent hookahs, and customers do use the patio in winter, but the tarps 

used in the patio area did not seal off the area because of the space around the perimeter of each 

tarp and the entrance to the patio allowed air flow in and out of the patio.  He added that at the new 

restaurant they were thinking of adding some type of curtains that would be used more as 

windbreakers but would not seal off the area. 
 

Commissioner Frederick asked if the patio at the current location was in use and was it totally 

open. 
 

Mr. Elhorr replied the area was totally open and the tarps are added in the winter and removed 

around mid-March depending on the weather. 
 

No other comments were received in favor and Chairman Hand called for comments in opposition. 
 

Ms. Lydia Luckett, 1935 Forestwood Drive, Richardson, Texas, stated she was opposed to the 

request unless some type of mechanical ventilation was provided to draw out the smoke from the 

patio when the tarps/curtains were drawn. 
 

Mr. Thuan Luu, 333 Polk Street, Richardson, Texas, said he was opposed because the existing 

restaurant emits too much noise and odors, as well as customers standing in the rear parking lot 

talking and smoking, which disturbs the tenants in his apartment building. 
 

No other comments were received in opposition and Chairman Hand asked if the applicant had 

anything to say in rebuttal. 
 

Mr. Elhorr said they were ready to comply with any City rules and ordinances regarding smoking 

on the patio, but reminded the Commission that the patio would not be completely closed and the 

use at the new location would be very similar to current location. 
 

Regarding the noise and odor issues, Mr. Elhorr said there are no windows at the back of the new 

restaurant and the patio is located at the complete opposite end of the property from Mr. Luu’s 

apartments. 
 

Vice Chair Bright asked if the Commission denied the request would smoking still be allowed on 

the patio under the current City regulations. 
 



Richardson City Plan Commission Minutes 

November 4, 2014 

 

 

 Ds:CPC/2014/2014-11-04 Minutes.doc  10 
 

 

Mr. Shacklett replied that smoking would still be allowed on the patio as long as it was not within 

10 feet of the door, and the reason the applicant was requesting the Special Permit was because 

they want to provide the tobacco and tobacco accessories.  However, if they did not provide the 

tobacco and accessories, customers could still use the patio for smoking if they provided their own 

tobacco, hookahs, cigarettes, etc. 
 

No further comments were received in favor or opposed and Chairman Hand closed the public 

hearing. 
 

Commissioner DePuy stated she had been to the Afrah restaurant several times and never noticed 

any problems with smoking on the patio and with the fact that smoking was already allowed, she 

did not see a problem with approving the Special Permit. 
 

Chairman Hand agreed with Ms. DePuy and was pleased the ordinance allowed the Commission to 

review each situation on a case-by-case basis.  He asked for clarification if the Commission was 

only approving the sale of tobacco products and whether customers would be allowed to smoke if 

they brought their own products. 
 

Mr. Shacklett confirmed that was correct, the Special Permit would allow the sale of tobacco 

products as well as smoking of those products on site. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Springs made a motion to recommend approval of Zoning File 14-37 as 

presented; second by Vice Chair Bright.  Motion approved 7-0. 

 

ADJOURN  
 

With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Hand adjourned the regular business 

meeting at 8:14 p.m. 

 

 

 

__________________________ 

Barry Hand, Chairman 

City Plan Commission 


